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CHAIRMAN’S

REPORT DARREN COOPER
Welcome to the Ocean Gardens Annual Report for the 2021
Financial Year
I was honoured to be elected President of your Board in November
2020, following the retirement of previous Chair Anthony Kinder.

The 2021 financial year has been no less eventful than the previous year, with the impacts
of COVID uncertainty and the associated need to ensure adequate safeguards for our
residents being the Board’s highest priority. Fortunately, both Western Australia and
the village itself seem to have successfully navigated this challenge – for now at least. A
recent Board mandate requiring all staff to be vaccinated against COVID demonstrates our
commitment to the health and wellbeing of our residents.
The property market was a “tale of two halves” with the first half of the financial year
remaining difficult, both for sales and for those purchasers being able to sell their existing
property, whilst the second half of the financial year showed a marked improvement in
conditions from both points of view.
During the year the Board commenced the process to develop a new master-plan for
the long-term future of the village, incorporating a range of exciting new & enhanced
amenities, and provision for us to offer higher levels of care for those residents who require
it and would prefer not to leave the village. We have since appointed Hames Sharley as
our village architect, and we aim to commence more detailed investigations and concept
development shortly.
Residents will also be aware that we experienced some senior staff turnover during the
year, with change in both the Care Manager and the village General Manager roles. During
these periods of absence, individual Board members have become more involved in the
day-to-day decision-making and operation of the village, and I take this opportunity to
thank them all for their extraordinary efforts during this time.
Finally, on behalf of the Board, I’d like to extend my thanks to the Residents’ Committee for
their efforts over the past year. The Board and the Residents’ Committee enjoy a positive
and productive working relationship, and we have found the wisdom and insight brought
to the table by the Committee is invaluable.
Darren Cooper, Board Chair
For and on behalf of the Board of Ocean Gardens Inc.
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OCEAN GARDENS

RESIDENTS’
ASSOCIATION REPORT
2020/21
It has been another year influenced by the Covid Pandemic particularly in the early
part of the year. However, with residents following “the rules” and management
diligent in managing visitors to the Village we have survived with no Covid cases
in the Village. It has been good to see all the usual interest groups within the
village continuing to thrive and enjoy what they are doing as well as new activities
starting up. The new activities include a Book Club group organised by Linda
Worth, a Community Garden group originated by John Taylor and Ann Yoong,
Stephanie Jenkins’ group learning French and how to get by in France and the
occasional Bridge group organised by Margaret Tierney and Ron Dalton.
There have been many memorable functions held during the year. Some that
stand out are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Anniversary Dinner
Olympic Games Fun Competition
Men’s Health week
WA Day Function and the Progressive Dinner
Christmas in July at Yanchep Inn and
Song and Dance with Adam Penn

Mike Collett and myself have had the Board confirm that care capability within the
village will be progressively increased with the aim of existing residents being able
to continue living here, where they are familiar with their surroundings and have
friends. This confirmation has progressed to where an architect, Hames Sharley,
has been appointed to develop the way forward for the village.
We are currently working with management and the Board to save residents on
their energy invoices. This is currently being progressed by the OG board.
We would like to conclude by thanking the committee who have supported the
association throughout the year.
Residents’ Association Committee
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Residents’ Association Committee
2020/21

President
Ray Purdy

Past President
John Farris

Committee
Carole Breeden

Deputy President
Peter McKerracher

Committee
Fay Woods

Treasurer
Tony Musca

Committee
Carole Wallace

Secretary
Stephanie Jenkins

Committee
Lyn Hall
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OCEAN GARDENS
BOARD

Darren Cooper - Chairman
Darren Cooper has enjoyed a
successful career in banking
and property spanning 30 years,
including 10 years in “C-Suite”
roles.
Darren now holds several board
positions, including as Chair of
Development WA, Chair of two ASX-listed
companies and a Non-Executive Director
position on a third. Darren is also Chair of the
Investment Committee for a Melbourne-based
property development, investment and funds
management business.
Darren holds a Bachelor of Business in Valuation
and Land Economics from Curtin University,
a Masters of Applied Finance from Macquarie
University, and is a Graduate of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD).
Darren joined the Ocean Gardens Board in April
2020 and was appointed Chair in November 2020.

Ray Glickman - Deputy
Chairman
Ray Glickman is a successful
business leader with over 20
years’ experience at CEO level
and a strong reputation as
a Board Chairman and NonExecutive Director.
Ray led both Amana Living and the
City of Fremantle to numerous National and
State awards. In 2017, Ray won the WA Aged
& Community Services Excellence Award. His
directorships present and past include Chair
of Curtin Heritage Living, Deputy Chair of
Chorus Australia, Chair and Co-Founder of Tiller
Rides, Chair of Aged & Community Services
Western Australia (ACSWA), Chair of Therapy
Focus, President of the Fremantle Chamber of
Commerce and serving as Deputy President/
Chairman of Aged & Community Services
Australia (ACSA). Ray is the Principal of From Left
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Field consulting.
Ray holds Masters degrees in Business, Applied
Social Studies and Psychology & Philosophy.
He is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Management and a Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.
Ray joined the Board of Ocean Gardens in 2016.

Felicite Black
Felicite Black has over
40 years’ experience in
Health and Community
Services. Initially training
as a Registered Nurse at
PCH, Felicite worked as a
clinician in paediatrics and
midwifery for 20 years. Felicite
has
held a number of management and
leadership roles in the for profit and for purpose
health and community services sectors. She
has held senior appointments in private health
insurance, private hospitals, specialist medical
practices including IVF services, aged and
community care, occupational health, youth
mental health and suicide prevention.
Felicite holds an MBA, Post Grad. in Case
Management a Bachelor of Arts (English and
History) and Diplomas in Nursing and Midwifery.
She is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors a Registered Nurse with
AHPRA and certified project management
practitioner. Felicite is currently CEO at Women’s
Health and Family Services.
Felicite joined the Board of Ocean Gardens in 2016
and is a member of the Audit Risk & Compliance
Committee.

OCEAN GARDENS
BOARD

Kylie Gilbey
Kylie has extensive banking,
property and structured finance
experience gained through
roles as Business Development
Director of a national strategic
financial advisory company, a
successful career in property finance
and corporate banking both in Australia
and internationally, and Director of a large social
and affordable housing NFP. She currently sits
on two large strata councils, one as Chair, and is
currently completing a PHD in finance.
Kylie holds a Master’s in Business Administration,
is a scholarship winner from WA Government for
Emerging Female Leaders, Mentor and Fellow
of The Financial Services Institute of Australasia
(FINSIA) and a graduate of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors.
Kylie joined the Ocean Gardens Board in 2017
and is a Member of the Ocean Gardens Trust and
Chair of the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee.

Lee Verios
Lee Verios has more than 40
years’ experience as a commercial
and property lawyer in Western
Australia.

Geoff Parnell
Geoff Parnell joins our
board with over 30 years’
experience as a Director
in the disability services,
independent living villages,
residential aged care, health,
professional services and
facility management sectors. He
is the current Chair of disability services provider
Mosaic Community Care. His experience also
includes finance audit and risk management,
clinical governance and culture engagement and
wellbeing sub committees.
In addition, Geoff lectures in the School of Design
and the Built Environment at Curtin University
and Open Universities Australia, is a Consumer
Advisory Panel member of the Australasian
Gastro-Intestinal Trials Group and a member
of the Department of Communities Adoptions
Applications Committee.
Geoff holds a Bachelor of Business, is a graduate
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors
(GAICD), a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Management and a Certified Chair and Advisor
with the Advisory Board Centre.
Geoff joined the Ocean Gardens Board in 2020.

He retired from active practice in
2012. Throughout his career, Lee
worked in both large and smaller
specialised firms and was often appointed
to senior management roles in addition to his
legal work. Lee is also an experienced Company
Director, having held positions in a variety of
enterprises in the public, large private and not for
profit sectors. He is currently a director of Finbar
Ltd, the Wyllie Group Pty Ltd and The Hellenic
Initiative Australia.
Lee and his family have lived in City Beach for over
35 years. He joined the Board of Ocean Gardens in
2014.
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OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

2021 Financial Performance
Ocean Gardens Inc is an Incorporated Association governed by its members and a Board of
Independent Directors. It is a not-for-profit organization where all surpluses are retained for the
benefit of the Village and its residents. Unlike the previous two years, the results for the current
year were not materially impacted by changes in the value of our dwellings, as illustrated by the
following table. During the year, the value of the Investment Properties dropped by only 0.44% or
$600,000. This follows a drop in the prior year of 4.85% ($7m) and 7.7% ($12m) in the year to June
2019 which reflected the downturn in the broader residential property market both in Western
Australia and Australia generally. The property market in WA has improved somewhat since
December 2020 and our internal valuations were confirmed by an external valuation conducted
by Property Valuation & Advisory (WA). This small reduction in value for the current year has
been off set in the Balance Sheet by a reduction of $0.6m in the value of the Resident Lease
Bonds. The fair value adjustments of both Investment Properties and Resident Lease Bonds
were recognized as an expense in the accounts, with an overall loss of ($229,789).
The underlying performance of Ocean Gardens remains solid. We continue to exhibit a strong
balance sheet, with Net Assets of $57.9m as at 30 June 2021.

Year to 30 June
Value of Investment Properties
Change in value of IP
Value of Resident Lease Bonds
Change in value of RLB
Profit/(Loss) for the year
Cash on deposit
Value of dwellings held for resale
Net Assets (ie., Equity)

8

2017
$m
154.1
15.7
105.1
1.4
5.3
6.0
16.0
63.0

2018
$m
155.5
1.4
107.7
2.6
1.4
7.0
9.9
64.5

2019
$m
143.5
(12.0)
101.3
(6.4)
(4.7)
8.9
6.9
59.8

2020
$m
136.5
(7.0)
96.8
(4.5)
(1.6)
10.5
6.0
58.2

2021
$m
135.9
(0.6)
96.2
(0.6)
(0.2)
10.7
5.4
57.9

OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

Our operating cash flow throughout this period has been positive in every year. Net cash flow
reflected a positive inflow of $210k during the year with the main outflows being:
•

$767k in refurbishment (maintenance) of units

•

$1m in project expenditure for the main Function Room acoustics, Deck Extension, and
capitalized refurbishment costs, and

•

$2.18m in operating expenses, mainly made up of Contributions to the Retirement Village
operating costs ($978k), Advertising & Marketing ($230k) and Directors Remuneration ($222k).

The pre-advance payments continue to be repaid to Ocean Gardens as and when those units
sell, and we have no bank debt.

Year to 30 June
Operating cash flow
Village upgrade program
Buyback program
Other
Net cash flow

2017
$m
3.6
(5.3)
(2.1)
0.0
(3.8)

2018
$m
3.9
(0.2)
0.0
(2.7)
0.9

2019
$m
1.8
(0.2)
0.0
0.3
1.9

2020
$m
1.7
(0.3)
(0.3)
0.4
1.6

2021
TOTAL
$m
$m
1.4
12.4
(1.1)
(7.2)
(0.3)
(2.6)
0.1
0.8
0.2
3.5
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OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

Cash Flow
The Board uses a cash flow report to assess operating performance, a summarised version of
which is set out below. This report, which has not been audited, provides a useful picture of the
Ocean Gardens’ financial performance over the past five years.
Cash Flow Summary
Year to

Year to

Year to

Year to

Year to

30 June 2017

30 June 2018

30 June 2019

30 June 2020

30 June 2021

OPERATING MOVEMENTS
Value of units sold
Agent's commission (net)
Resident's share of proceeds
OG share of proceeds of unit sales
Refurbishment cost to units in the year
Net proceeds from unit sales
Interest and Other Income
Net Inflow from sales and other income
Operating Expenses
Operating Cash Flow

15,900,584 100.0%
(89,531)
0.6%
(7,903,305) 49.7%

10,256,950 100.0%
(73,187)
0.7%
(2,692,204) 26.2%

10,280,000 100.0%
(58,673)
0.6%
(4,801,750) 46.7%

10,197,000 100.0%
(75,220)
0.7%
(5,606,552) 55.0%

9,698,400
(66,864)

100.0%

(6,132,121)

63.2%

7,907,748

49.7%

7,491,558

73.0%

5,419,577

52.7%

4,515,228

44.3%

3,499,415

36.1%

(2,263,583)

14.2%

(1,667,961)

16.3%

(1,233,225)

12.0%

(1,039,550)

10.2%

(767,326)

7.9%

5,644,165

35.5%

5,823,597

56.8%

4,186,352

40.7%

3,475,678

34.1%

2,732,090

28.2%

156,005

120,450

170,433

443,611

850,331

5,800,170

5,944,047

4,356,785

3,919,289

3,582,421

(2,244,060)

14.1%

(2,067,146)

20.2%

(2,549,916)

24.8%

(2,182,926)

21.4%

(2,175,354)

22.4%

3,556,110

22.4%

3,876,901

37.8%

1,806,869

17.6%

1,736,363

17.0%

1,407,068

14.5%

Borrowings

(1,183,000)

(1,000)

Upgrades
Village Upgrade (Community Centre)
Village Upgrade (Pool & Gymnasium)
Balandi Way

(46,585)

Fi bre Communications

(51,789)

-

(52,660)

-

(56,882)

-

(58,145)

-

-

Fire Compliance
Garden Upgrades
Solar Panels
Software Upgrade
Apartment Common Areas
Projects

Dwellings purchased by OGI

(5,273,545)

(190,149)

(134,817)

(252,151)

(1,034,548)

(5,320,130)

(1,424,938)

(187,477)

(309,033)

(1,093,693)

(250,897)

(250,705)

(1,470,000)

301,642

399,179

147,077

(2,077,425)

Pre-Sale Advances

-

Adjustments

-

NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW)

Opening Cash Balance
Net inflow (outflow)
Closing Cash Balance

Number of units sold

10

0.7%

-

-

-

-

(3,841,445)

981,963

1,921,034

1,575,612

209,746

10,477,859

9,840,699

5,999,253

6,981,215

8,902,249

(3,841,445)

981,963

1,921,034

1,575,612

209,746

5,999,253

6,981,215

8,902,249

10,477,859

10,687,605

23

15

14

17
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OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

Unit Sale Revenue
The cash flow report on page 10 has several major components. First, with unit sales totaling 13 units
during the year compared to 17 in the prior year, unit sale revenues were approximately $0.5m down
on last year. The average selling price per unit increased to $746k from $600k in the year to June
2020. This was mainly due to the sales of the remaining two Palm Gardens apartments. Operating
cash flow dropped by $329k to $1.4m compared to June 2020 as a result of lower sales and the impact
of three relocations within the village. Residents share of proceeds are the refunds paid to residents
whose units have been subsequently sold. These refunds increased compared to last year because
these three relocations. Overall, we have had a positive cash inflow of $210k over the financial period
and our Closing Cash Balance as at June 2021 has increased from $10.5m to $10.7m.

Sales are a reflection of the market and the quality of the product available. Over the past ten years
we have spent over $20m on refurbishing our units and on improving and maintaining our product;
we have invested $6.8m in the common areas of the village including the gardens and grounds with
the results being reflected in a relatively sustained demand for dwellings within the village over the
last 10 years.
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OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

Advertising and Marketing
With our brand positioning now in place, we have now returned our advertising and marketing
expenditure to pre-2017 levels. Expenditure throughout this period saw a continues emphasis on
radio, digital and social media marketing to support sales and continues to build value into our
brand. The spend in advertising & marketing expenditure, as a % of unit sales revenue over the last 5
years, is a reflection of the increasingly competitive environment within which we operate.
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OCEAN GARDENS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
(PARENT COMPANY)

Gross Margin
The cash flow report also shows that our return on sales – our “gross margin” – has now dropped
to since last year and the spike in 2018. The “OG share of proceeds of unit sales” shows that the
percentage of sales revenue retained by Ocean Gardens was 34.2% in 2021, down from 45% in 2020.
The major contributing factor for this was the three relocations which took place within the village
during the year which resulted in a net outflow of cash of $1.5m, plus the buyback of Apartment 235
for an amalgamation project with Apartment 234 which resulted in an outflow of cash of $251k. If
both of these were excluded from the calculations the amount retained by Ocean Gardens would
have been 53.5%.

Year to 30 June
Paid out to residents
Retained by OG

2017

50.3%
49.7%

2018

26.2%
73.8%

2019

46.7%
53.3%

2020

55.0%
45.0%

2021

63.2%
36.8%

Ocean Gardens firmly believes that all villages should publish their payout ratios. Fee structures
are often complex, difficult to understand and even more difficult to compare with those of other
villages, but the payout ratio is simple and tells a simple truth – how the proceeds of sale, on average,
are shared between residents and the village. The average over the last 5 years has been a 48.8%
paid out to residents and 51.2% retained by Ocean Gardens.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
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Expenditure
Expenditure for the year was up by $1.3m on the previous year primarily due to the three relocations
which took place within the village during the year.
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FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
ABN 94 429 163 573
NAPSID:2558

NAPS Service ID: 26466

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Board of Management:
1. The consolidated financial report as set out on pages 3 to 31 presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Ocean Gardens (Inc)
and its controlled entity as at 30 June 2021 and its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Associations Incorporations Act 2015 (WA).
2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Ocean Gardens (Inc) and its controlled entity will be able to
pay its debts as and when they fall due.
This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Management and is signed for and on behalf of the Board of
Management by:

Dated this

16

22

day of September 2021, City Beach, WA

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
Note

2021
$

2020
$

Revenue

3

5,820,760

5,974,564

Other income

3

978,163

516,045

Employee benefits expense

4

(3,062,010)

(2,755,634)

Administration expenses

4

(1,613,204)

(1,534,466)

8(a)

(711,676)

(719,528)

Repairs and maintenance expenses

(425,678)

(410,692)

Residential expenses

(389,499)

(750,265)

4

(320,170)

(255,333)

Change in fair value of investment property

9(a)

(1,285,965)

(7,022,897)

Change in fair value of resident loans

13(a)

901,596

5,246,097

Net deficit for the year

(107,683)

(1,712,109)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

0
(107,683)

0
(1,712,109)

Net deficit attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

(107,683)

(1,712,109)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

(107,683)

(1,712,109)

Depreciation expense

Other expenses

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Inventories

Note
5
6
7

2020
$

11,275,774
689,693
36,520
2,347

10,829,244
855,196
59,863
2,530

12,004,334

11,746,833

7,570,284
135,925,000

7,855,490
136,525,000

TOTAL NON‐CURRENT ASSETS

143,495,284

144,380,490

TOTAL ASSETS

155,499,618

156,127,323

1,043,529
257,913
0
96,213,089

1,027,158
211,624
1,000
96,794,771

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

97,514,531

98,034,553

TOTAL LIABILITIES

97,514,531

98,034,553

NET ASSETS

57,985,087

58,092,770

EQUITY
Retained surplus

57,985,087

58,092,770

TOTAL EQUITY

57,985,087

58,092,770

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON‐CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities

18

2021
$

8
9

10
11
12
13

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note

Retained
Surplus
$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2019

59,804,879

59,804,879

Net deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to members of the parent entity

(1,712,109)
0

(1,712,109)
0

(1,712,109)

(1,712,109)

Balance at 30 June 2020

58,092,770

58,092,770

Balance at 1 July 2020
Net deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to members of the parent entity

58,092,770
(107,683)
0

58,092,770
(107,683)
0

(107,683)

(107,683)

Balance at 30 June 2021

57,985,087

57,985,087

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

19

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from residents and customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash provided by operating activities

14

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant & equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment
Purchase of investment property
Proceeds from disposal of investment property
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of line of credit
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

20

5

2021
$

2020
$

5,977,682
(4,479,052)
61,335
1,559,965

4,415,484
(2,625,141)
108,766
1,899,109

(426,470)
0
(685,965)
0
(1,112,435)

(241,533)
0
(67,897)
0
(309,430)

(1,000)
(1,000)

0
0

446,530
10,829,244

1,589,679
9,239,565

11,275,774

10,829,244

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements represent those of Ocean Gardens (Inc) and its controlled entity (“Group”). Ocean
Gardens (Inc) is an Association incorporated in Western Australia and operating pursuant to the Associations
Incorporation Act 2015 (WA).
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue on 22 September 2021 by the members of the Board.
Basis of Preparation
These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Associations
Incorporation Act 2015 (WA), Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012 and Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The Association is a not‐for‐profit entity for
financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless
stated otherwise.
The consolidated financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accrual basis and
are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non‐current
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to
the nearest dollar.
Accounting Policies
(a) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent (Ocean
Gardens (Inc)) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are entities the Parent
controls. The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries
is provided in Note 23.
The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group
from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the
date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions
between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
(b) Income Tax
The Group is a charitable organisation as specified in section 50.5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, and is
therefore exempt from income tax.
(c) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non‐recurring basis,
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.
Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an
orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the
measurement date.
As fair value is a market‐based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to
determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific
asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using
one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.
Page 7
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1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Continued)
To the extent possible, market information is extracted from the principal market for the asset or liability (ie the
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability). In the absence of such a market,
information is extracted from the most advantageous market available to the Group at the end of the reporting
period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to
transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs).
For non‐financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to use the
asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.
(d) Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than
the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable
amount and impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made
when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(g) for details of impairment).
The cost of fixed assets constructed by the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and
an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, is depreciated on a
straight‐line basis over the asset’s useful life commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful
lives of the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Furniture and Fittings
Motor Vehicles

Depreciation Rate
2.5% to 33.33%
5% to 33.33%
5% to 33.33%
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. When revalued assets are sold, amounts
included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained surplus.
(e) Investment Property
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Costs of enhancements to an
existing investment property are capitalised. Costs of day‐to‐day servicing of an investment property are expensed.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment propery is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
reporting date.
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1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Investment Property (Continued)
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.
Investment property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of or when it is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
year of retirement or disposal.
The Group makes a determination, on a property by property basis, as to whether a property should be considered
an investment property. Factors taken into account include:
‐ Whether the property generates cash flows largely independent of other services provided to residents of the
properties; and
‐ Whether the property is held for long‐term capital appreciation rather than for short‐term sale in the ordinary
course of business.
Based on these factors, independent living units governed by the Retirement Villages Act are classified as investment
properties.
(f)

Leases
The Group as lessee
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right‐
of‐use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Group where the Group is a lessee. However, all
contracts that are classified as short‐term leases (lease with remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low value assets (lease with annual repayments of less than $10,000) are recognised as an operating expense on a
straight‐line basis over the term of the lease.
Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
‐ fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;
‐ variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;
‐ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
‐ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
‐ lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
‐ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.
The right‐of‐use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned above,
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs. The subsequent
measurement of the right‐of‐use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right‐of‐use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is the
shortest.
Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right‐of‐use asset reflects that the Group
anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
Concessionary Leases
For leases that have significantly below‐market terms and conditions principally to enable the Group to further its
objectives (commonly known as peppercorn/concessionary leases), the Group has adopted the temporary relief
under AASB 2019‐8 and measures the right of use assets at cost on initial recognition.
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1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is
compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
(h) Employee Benefits
Short‐term employee benefits
Provision is made for the Group's obligation for short‐term employee benefits. Short‐term employee benefits are
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of
the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages, salaries and annual
leave. Short‐term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the
obligation is settled.
The Group's obligation for short‐term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and annual leave are recognised as
a part of provisions in the statement of financial position.
Other long‐term employee benefits
Provision is made for employees' long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service.
Other long‐term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made
to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service
and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations.
Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long‐term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is
recognised in profit or loss as a part of employee benefits expense.
The Group's obligation for long‐term employee benefits are presented as non‐current provisions in its statement of
financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.
(i)

(j)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions
are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short‐term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(k) Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors
Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from residents and customers for goods and services
provided in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of
the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non‐current assets.
Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(p) for further discussion on the
determination of impairment losses.
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1.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l)

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured. The following revenue recognition criteria applies:
Re‐leasing Units
Revenue from re‐leasing units such as refurbishment fees as per resident leases is recognised at settlement of the
unit’s re‐leasing.
Deferred Management Fee Income
Deferred Management Fees (DMF) are charged to out‐going residents at the point of resale of the unit for 3 types of
resident agreements entered into since September 2011. The fee is charged based on a percentage of the outgoing
sale price. The percentage is determined by the number of days the outgoing resident has occupied the
accommodation prior to the termination of the lease. The Deferred Management Fee percentage is specified in the
Residence Contract and varies between 35 to 39% after 7 years dependent on which resident contract is applicable.
The DMF is based on year end values and brought into account on reporting date.
Refurbishment Income
Refurbishment income is the amount by which resident lease bonds are reduced on an annual basis in accordance
with the resident lease agreement. The refurbishment income is recognised annually based on the market values of
investment properties.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Resident Fees
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer.
Other Revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST Receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flow arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in
receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.
(n) Trade and Other Payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes
obliged to make future payments in respect to the purchase of these goods and services.
(o) Resident Lease Bonds
Resident lease bonds are treated as financial liabilities and are the value of the residents’ financial interests in the
properties they occupy calculated on the market value of their properties at 30 June 2021. Resident lease bonds are
non‐interest bearing. Fair value movements on resident lease bonds are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in the period that the revaluation occurred. The fair value of resident lease bonds
is not less than the amount payable on settlement under the lease agreement.
Resident lease bonds are classified as current liabilities as the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Settlements to outgoing residents typically
occur once a new incoming resident has paid a new lease bond.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Group commits itself to either the
purchase or the sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except
where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed
to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In
other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a significant
financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in paragraph 63 of AASB 15: Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
‐ amortised cost; or
‐ fair value through profit and loss.
A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is:
‐ a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business Combinations
applies;
‐ held for trading; or
‐ initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest expense to profit or loss over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying
amount at initial recognition.
A financial liability is held for trading if it is:
‐ incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term;
‐ part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short‐term profit taking; or
‐ a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract or a derivative that
is in an effective hedging relationship).
Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part
of a designated hedging relationship.
The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is taken to other
comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, it is transferred to retained
surplus upon derecognition of the financial liability.
If taking the change in credit risk to other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, these
gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income.
A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
‐ amortised cost;
‐ fair value through other comprehensive income; or
‐ fair value through profit or loss.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial Instruments (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial Assets (Continued)
Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria:
‐ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and
‐ the business model for managing the financial assets.
A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
‐ the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and
‐ the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates.
A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
‐ the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; and
‐ the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows collection and the
selling of the financial asset.
By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:
‐ it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to as an
“accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases;
‐ it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and information about the
groupings is documented appropriately, so the performance of the financial liability that is part of a group of
financial liabilities or financial assets can be managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and
‐ it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows otherwise
required by the contract.
The initial measurement of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss is a one‐time option on initial
classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.
Equity instruments
At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading or is not a contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 applies, the Group makes an irrevocable
election to measure any subsequent changes in fair value of the equity instruments in other comprehensive income,
while the dividend revenue received on underlying equity instruments investments will still be recognised in profit or
loss.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Derecognition
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a
substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability
and recognition of a new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non‐cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is
transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial Instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset:
‐ the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
‐ all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and
‐ the Group no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral decisions to sell the asset to a
third party).
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
On derecognition of an investment in equity that the Group elected to classify as at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained surplus.
Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:
‐ financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;
‐ lease receivables;
‐ contract assets (eg amount due from customers under contracts);
‐ loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and
‐ financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Loss allowance is not recognised for:
‐ financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or
‐ equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Expected credit losses are the probability‐weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial
instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected
to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument.
The Group uses the simplified approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments.
Simplified approach
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but instead
requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times.
This approach is applicable to:
‐ trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions that are within the scope of AASB 15: Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, and which do not contain a significant financing component; and
‐ lease receivables.
In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables is used, taking into consideration
various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of its customer base, appropriate groupings of its historical
loss experience, etc).
(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The committee evaluates estimates and judgments incorporated into the consolidated financial statements based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.
Impairment
The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the conditions and events specific
to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed
using value‐in‐use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Continued)
Valuation of Investment Property
The Group has certain assets classified as Investment Property for the purposes of AASB 140 Investment Property,
principally the Retirement Village owned by the Group. This asset is carried at an amount which represents fair value
as at the reporting date. Fair value is determined by reference to market‐based evidence, which is the amount for
which the asset could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction.
Resident Lease Bonds
Residents are entitled to a portion of the revaluation gain on their unit in accordance with their resident contract.
There are 4 types of resident contract and the capital gain varies between 40 to 100% dependent on the type and
date of contract. The revaluation of the unit has similar estimates and assumptions as discussed under investment
property. The resident lease bond liability is stated at fair value with reference to market based evidence, after
deducting deferred management fees receivable, capital refurbishment fees and marketing fees where applicable to
the type of resident contract. All contracts before September 2011 had no deferred management fees, and the
resident bond liability is stated at entry price with 40% capital gain at market value added, less marketing and
refurbishment fees.
Deferred Management Fees (DMF) is charged to out‐going residents at the point of resale of the unit for 3 types of
resident agreements entered into since September 2011. The fee is charged based on a percentage of the outgoing
sale price. The percentage is determined by the number of days the outgoing resident has occupied the
accommodation prior to the termination of the lease. The Deferred Management Fee percentage is specified in the
Residence Contract and varies between 35 to 39% after 7 years dependent on which resident contract is applicable.
The DMF is based on year end values and brought into account on reporting date.
Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured at the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date
calculated using known pay rates. Consideration is given to periods of service and experience of employee
departures but does not attempt to estimate future salary and wage rate increases.
Expected future payments are discounted to their present value using a pre‐tax discount that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money at the reporting date.
Performance obligations under AASB 15
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to
determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is
sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding
the promised goods or services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/type, cost/value,
quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services promised.
(r)

Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation for the current financial year.
Where the Group retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or reclassifies
items in its financial statements, a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period is
presented in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements.

(s)

New, Revised or Amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations Adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new, revised or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current period relating to recognition
and measurement. Any new, revised or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet
mandatory have not been early adopted.
Based on the Board of Management's assessment, the new accounting standards did not have a material affect on
the consolidated financial statements.
Page 15
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2. PARENT INFORMATION
The following information has been extracted from the books
and records of Ocean Gardens (Inc) (parent entity) and has
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards.

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Current assets
Non‐current assets
Total assets

2021
$

2020
$

11,315,770
143,495,285
154,811,055

11,373,917
144,380,490
155,754,407

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non‐current liabilities
Total liabilities

96,878,987
0
96,878,987

97,592,553
0
97,592,553

Net assets

57,932,068

58,161,854

Equity
Retained surplus
Total equity

57,932,068
57,932,068

58,161,854
58,161,854

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Net surplus/(deficit)
Total comprehensive income

(229,786)
(229,786)

(1,643,534)
(1,643,534)

Guarantees
Ocean Gardens (Inc) has a $5 million line of credit facility with Bankwest. The line of credit is secured by
a freehold property mortgage over the village at 60 Kalinda Drive City Beach and a general security
interest over all assets and undertakings of the entity. Refer to note 12 for further information.
Contingent Liabilities
Ocean Gardens (Inc) did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil).
Contractual Commitments
Ocean Gardens (Inc) had a contractual capital expenditure commitment of $155,120 for the
construction of the outside deck area as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil).
3. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

2021
$

Revenue
Refurbishment fees
Residential services
Deferred management fees
Common service fees
Apartment service fees
Care service fees

30

34,995
307,094
3,097,926
1,371,819
65,300
943,626
5,820,760
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2020
$
123,258
314,817
3,456,134
1,309,991
66,577
703,787
5,974,564
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3. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED)
Other Income
Interest
Trust distribution
Sundry income
Government grants
Other revenue

2021
$
61,335
61,305
88,362
733,800
33,361
978,163

4. SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Surplus/(deficit) includes the following specific expenses:
Administration expenses:
‐ Utilities
‐ Advertising
‐ Marketing
‐ Contract staff
‐ Auditor remuneration
‐ Other (consultancy, commisions, insurance, legal,
training, food and medical supplies)

Employee benefit expenses:
‐ Salaries and wages
‐ Contributions to defined contribution superannuation
funds
‐ Director's remuneration
‐ Leave entitlements
‐ Other (workers compensation premium and staff
reimbursements)

Other expenses:
‐ Capital loss
‐ Other (Donations, interest and sundry expenses)

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Term deposits

2021
$

2020
$
108,766
47,217
50,332
299,000
10,730
516,045

2020
$

316,084
110,370
119,347
172,975
17,500

311,798
175,738
129,866
155,907
18,208

876,928

742,949

1,613,204

1,534,466

2,261,298

2,023,571

220,700

207,642

221,579
280,690

210,651
238,640

77,743

75,130

3,062,010

2,755,634

174,220
145,950
320,170

178,850
76,483
255,333

2021
$
5,547
3,613,610
7,656,617
11,275,774

2020
$
8,366
4,399,690
6,421,188
10,829,244

The effective interest rate on term bank deposits was 0.79 % (2020: 1.54%).
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021
$
622,102
67,591
689,693

Note

Resident debtors
Other debtors
20

2020
$
769,178
86,018
855,196

a. Lifetime Expected Credit Loss: Credit Impaired
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all accounts receivable. To measure the
expected credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward‐looking
information.

2021

Expected
loss rate
Gross
carrying
amount
Loss
allowance
provision

2020
Expected
loss rate
Gross
carrying
amount
Loss
allowance
provision

Current

> 30 days past due

> 60 days past
due

> 90 days past
due

Total

$

$

$

$

$

0%

0%

0%

0%

95,373

13,435

7,332

573,553

0

0

0

0

Current

> 30 days past due

$

$

> 60 days past
due
$

> 90 days past
due
$

0%

0%

0%

0%

101,001

12,541

11,795

729,859

0

0

0

0

689,693

0

Total
$

855,196

0

The > 90 days balance consists of pre sale compassionate payments for 2 units and DAP advances for
residents in higher care. These amounts will be recouped from the residents refund monies once their
respective units are sold. As a result, no expected credit loss has been recognised by the Group.
b. Credit Risk
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or
entity of counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within this
note. The main source of credit risk to the Group is considered to relate to the class of assets described
as "resident debtors and other debtors". Resident debtors $622,102 (2020: $769,178) will be recovered
when the related properties are sold.
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6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
b. Credit Risk (Continued)
The Group always measures the loss allowance for accounts receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit loss. The expected credit losses on accounts receivable are estimated using a provision
matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. There has been no change in the estimation techniques
used or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.
The Group writes off an accounts receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery (eg when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings).
Collateral held as security
No collateral is held as security for any of the trade receivable or other receivable balances.
7. OTHER ASSETS

2021
$
20,926
15,594
36,520

2020
$
48,774
11,089
59,863

2021
$

2020
$

3,637,846
3,637,846

3,637,846
3,637,846

Buildings at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

10,785,681
(8,163,353)
2,622,328

10,767,388
(7,695,151)
3,072,237

Plant and equipment at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

2,271,911
(1,544,711)
727,200

2,207,110
(1,327,756)
879,354

Furniture and fittings at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

1,732,685
(1,712,127)
20,558

1,724,672
(1,700,477)
24,195

Motor vehicles at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

192,739
(146,911)
45,828

177,932
(132,055)
45,877

Software at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

95,188
(95,188)
0

95,188
(95,188)
0

Work in progress at cost

516,524
516,524

195,981
195,981

7,570,284

7,855,490

GST receivable
Prepayments
8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land at cost

Total Property, Plant and Equipment
Page 19
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8.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

a.

Movements in Carrying Amount
The following represents the movement in the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the
end of the current financial year.

Balance as at 1 July 2019
Additions
Disposals / Write‐off
Depreciation Expense
Balance as at 30 June 2020
Balance as at 1 July 2020
Additions
Disposals / Write‐off
Depreciation Expense
Balance as at 30 June 2021

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

$
3,637,846
0
0
0
3,637,846

$
3,555,464
0
0
(483,227)
3,072,237

$
942,852
141,922
0
(205,420)
879,354

$

34,295
1,836
0
(11,936)
24,195

$
22,466
48,943
(8,474)
(17,058)
45,877

1,887
0
0
(1,887)
0

$
128,057
67,924
0
0
195,981

3,637,846
0
0
0
3,637,846

3,072,237
18,197
0
(468,106)
2,622,328

879,354
64,908
0
(217,062)
727,200

24,195
8,014
0
(11,651)
20,558

45,877
14,808
0
(14,857)
45,828

0
0
0
0
0

195,981
320,543
0
0
516,524
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Furniture and
Fittings

Motor
Vehicles

Software

Work in
Progress

$

Total
$
8,322,867
260,625
(8,474)
(719,528)
7,855,490
7,855,490
426,470
0
(711,676)
7,570,284

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
9. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2021
$
135,925,000
135,925,000

Retirement village at fair value

2020
$
136,525,000
136,525,000

a. Movements in Carrying Amount
The following represents the movement in the carrying amount of investment property between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year.
2021
2020
$
$
Carrying amount at 1 July
136,525,000
143,480,001
Net change in value due to lease bond turnover
685,965
67,896
Fair value adjustment
(1,285,965)
(7,022,897)
136,525,000
Carrying amount at 30 June
135,925,000
Valuations
The investment property was valued by members of the Board of Ocean Gardens (Inc) at 30 June 2021.
In determining the fair value, the Board take into consideration internal valuations prepared by the
Group, and an external valuer’s review of those values. An external valuation of the investment property
is undertaken every three years. The last external valuation was performed in 2018 and, consequently,
one was undertaken in July 2021. The total consolidated comprehensive loss for the year of ($107,683)
was largely due to the investment property valuation of the retirement portfolio. This was on the back
of a review of the retirement portfolios unit pricing and a reflection of the steadying of prices in the
broader residential property market in Perth since December 2020.
Fair value adjustment – investment property
The fair value adjustment of ($1,285,965) [2020: ($7,022,897)] was recognised through profit or loss in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Units Owned by Ocean Gardens (Inc)
Ocean Gardens (Inc) owns a number of residential properties within the investment property which are
used as, or are held for refurbishment, development and resale. The value of these properties was as
follows:
2021
2020
$
$
Units owned by Ocean Gardens (Inc)
5,440,000
5,955,000
5,440,000
5,955,000
10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Note

Trade creditors
Accrued liabilities
Unspent home care package funds
Deposits held

20

2021
$
213,185
534,518
265,826
30,000
1,043,529

2020
$
365,313
472,713
169,132
20,000
1,027,158

Payables are non‐interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. The carrying values are
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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11. PROVISIONS

2021
$

Provision for employee benefits
‐ Annual leave
‐ Long service leave

2020
$

163,163
94,750
257,913

139,253
72,371
211,624

211,624
213,450
(167,161)
257,913

237,601
186,610
(212,587)
211,624

Analysis of provision for employee benefits
Opening balance at 1 July
Additional provisions
Amounts used
Closing balance at 30 June

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements
and the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the Group does not expect the full
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within
the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Group
does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees
wish to use their leave entitlement.
12. BORROWINGS

2021
$

Line of credit

0
0

2020
$
1,000
1,000

The Group has a $5 million line of credit facility with Bankwest. The line of credit is secured by a
freehold property mortgage over the village at 60 Kalinda Drive City Beach and a general security
interest over all assets and undertakings of Ocean Gardens (Inc). The financial undertakings imposed by
the bank require EBITDA divided by interest expense to be greater than or equal to two times, at the
end of each year. The Group was not in breach of any loan agreements and covenants at year end, nor
did any breach occur during the year.
13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
2021
$
96,213,089
96,213,089

Resident lease bonds

2020
$
96,794,771
96,794,771

a. Movements in Carrying Amount
The following represents the movement in the carrying amount of resident lease bonds between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year.
2021
2020
$
$
Carrying amount at 1 July
96,794,771
101,311,605
Net change in value due to lease bond turnover
319,914
729,263
Fair value adjustment
(901,596)
(5,246,097)
96,213,089
96,794,771
Carrying amount at 30 June
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13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Resident lease bonds are non‐interest bearing and are settled within seven days of a new resident
occupying the Unit in accordance with Ocean Gardens (Inc) Residence Contract. Resident loans are
reduced by annual loan reduction fees charged in accordance with the residency agreement. Residents
may be entitled to a proportion of the increase in value of the villas on turnover in accordance with their
residency agreement. Resident loans have been remeasured to reflect the share of capital gains payable
to residents at the reporting date based on current market prices.
14. CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities with net
surplus/(deficit)
Net deficit
Adjustment for non‐cash transactions:
‐ Depreciation expense
‐ (Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and
‐ Change in fair value of investment property
‐ Change in fair value of resident loans
‐ Deferred management fees
‐ Government grants (jobkeeper)
Movements in working capital:
‐ (Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables
‐ (Increase)/Decrease in other assets
‐ (Increase)/Decrease in inventories
‐ Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables
‐ Increase/(Decrease) in provisions
‐ Increase/(Decrease) in other financial liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

2021
$

2020
$

(107,683)

(1,712,109)

711,676
0
1,285,965
(901,596)
(925,409)
0

719,528
(10,618)
7,022,897
(5,246,097)
(2,265,006)
(90,000)

165,503
23,343
183
16,371
46,289
1,245,323
1,559,965

399,265
15,217
2,510
95,230
(25,977)
2,994,269
1,899,109

2021
$

2020
$

15. CAPITAL AND LEASE COMMITMENTS
a. Capital Expenditure Commitments
Contracted for:
‐ Capital expenditure project
Payable:
‐ Not later than one year

155,120
155,120

0
0

155,120

0

The capital expenditure project outstanding at the end of the current reporting period represents the
construction of the outside deck area.
Page 23

37

FINANCIAL REPORT
OCEAN GARDENS (INC)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
15. CAPITAL AND LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
b. Lease Commitments
The Group did not have any lease commitments as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: nil).
16. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent assets or contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 (30
June 2020: nil).
17. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board of Management is not aware of any events after the reporting period that may significantly
affect the Group’s operations, its financial results or state of affairs in future financial years.
18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a. Key Management Personnel
Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or
indirectly, including its committee members, is considered key
management personnel.

Key management personnel compensation:
‐ short‐term employee benefits
‐ post‐employment benefits

2021
$

2020
$

281,246
25,313
306,559

285,884
26,160
312,044

2021
$
202,355
19,224
221,579

2020
$
192,376
18,275
210,651

Key management are employed and paid by Village Operations.
Ocean Gardens (Inc) reimburses Village Operations on a
monthly basis for the time key management employees have
been used on Ocean Gardens (Inc) tasks.
b. Other Related parties
Other related parties include close family members of key
management personnel and entities that are controlled or
jointly controlled by those key management personnel,
individually or collectively with their close family members.
There were no related party transactions during the financial
year (2020: nil).
19. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION
Non‐executive directors fees
Post‐employment benefits
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, receivables and payables.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial
Instruments, as detailed in the accounting policies to these consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:
Note
Financial Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
‐ Cash and cash equivalents
‐ Trade and other receivables
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
‐ Trade and other payables
‐ Borrowings
‐ Other financial liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

2021
$

2020
$

5
6

11,275,774
689,693
11,965,467

10,829,244
855,196
11,684,440

10
12
13

1,043,529
0
96,213,089
97,256,618

1,027,158
1,000
96,794,771
97,822,929

Financial Risk Management Policies
The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee is responsible for, among other issues, monitoring and
managing financial risk exposures of the Group. The Committee monitors the Group’s transactions and
reviews the effectiveness of controls relating to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Discussions on
monitoring and managing financial risk exposures are held bi‐monthly and minuted by the committee of
management.
The Committee's overall risk management strategy seeks to ensure that the Group meets its financial
targets, while minimising potential adverse effects of cash flow shortfalls.
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. There have been no substantive changes in
the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these risks arise, or the committee’s objectives, policies
and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the previous period.
a. Credit Risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non‐performance by
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.
Credit risk is managed through the maintaining of procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the
approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposure against such limits and
monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring, to the extent
possible, that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness.
Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit
rating or in entities that the committee has otherwise assessed as being financially sound.
Credit risk exposures
The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting
period is equivalent to the carrying amount and classification of those financial assets (net of any
provisions).
There is no collateral held by the Group securing accounts receivable and other debtors.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of
counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors are provided
in Note 6(b).
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
a. Credit Risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and other debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of
high credit quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed at Note 6.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of
counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors are provided
in Note 6(a).
b. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. This risk is controlled through monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring adequate
access to financial instruments that are readily convertible to cash. In addition, the Group maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating requirements.
Financial liabilities of the Group comprise trade and other payables and independent living unit (ILU)
resident loan liabilities.
Trade and other payables with no contractual maturities are typically settled within 30 days or within
the terms negotiated.
ILU resident loan liabilities are subject to lease agreements and are repayable within 7 days after a new
ILU resident replaces the departing ILU resident. Therefore they are classified as “current liabilities” in
the Statement of Financial Position. As a departing resident is typically replaced by an equivalent or
higher ILU resident loan receivable from the new incoming resident, it is unlikely in practice that all ILU
resident loan liabilities would be refundable within a 12 month period.
The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non‐derivative financial
liabilities. The Group does not hold any derivative financial liabilities.
Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis
2021
Within 1 Year
1 to 5 Years
$
$
Financial liabilities due
for payment
Trade and other
payables
1,043,529
Borrowings
0
Other financial
liabilities
96,213,089
Total expected
outflows
97,256,618
Financial assets – cash
flows realisable
Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Total expected inflows
Net (outflow)/inflow
expected on financial
instruments

40

Over 5 Years
$

Total
$

0
0

0
0

1,043,529
0

0

0

96,213,089

0

0

97,256,618

11,275,774

0

0

11,275,774

689,693

0

0

689,693

11,965,467

0

0

11,965,467

(85,291,151)

0

0

(85,291,151)
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
b. Liquidity Risk (Continued)
Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis (Continued)
2020
Financial liabilities due
for payment
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Other financial
liabilities
Total expected
outflows
Financial assets – cash
flows realisable
Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Total expected inflows
Net (outflow)/inflow
expected on financial
instruments

Within 1 Year
$

1 to 5 Years
$

Over 5 Years
$

Total
$

1,027,158
1,000

0
0

0
0

1,027,158
1,000

96,794,771

0

0

96,794,771

97,822,929

0

0

97,822,929

10,829,244

0

0

10,829,244

855,196

0

0

855,196

11,684,440

0

0

11,684,440

(86,138,489)

0

0

(86,138,489)

Financial assets pledged as collateral
Refer to note 12 for further information about financial assets that have been pledged as security for
the line of credit facility.
c. Market Risk
Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of
the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair
value of fixed rate financial instruments. The Group is exposed to earnings volatility on floating rate
instruments. The financial instruments that expose the Group to interest rate risk are limited to cash at
bank and term deposits.
The Group also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid within
any pre‐agreed credit terms.
Sensitivity analysis
The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Group’s exposures to changes in interest rates. The
table indicates the impact of how net surplus/(deficit) and equity values reported at the end of the
reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that management
considers to be reasonably possible.
These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables.
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
c. Market Risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
Net surplus /
(deficit)
$
112,702

Year ended 30 June 2021
+/‐ 1% change in interest rates

Equity
$
112,702

Net surplus /
(deficit)
$
108,209

Year ended 30 June 2020
+/‐ 1% change in interest rates

Equity
$
108,209

No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the Group has no significant
exposure to currency risk. There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the
above sensitivity analysis from the prior year.
Fair Values
Fair value estimation
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.

Note
Financial Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
‐ Cash and cash equivalents
‐ Trade and other receivables
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
‐ Trade and other payables
‐ Borrowings
‐ Other financial liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
‐ Trade and other payables
‐ Borrowings
‐ Other financial liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities
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2021
Fair Value
$

5
6

11,275,774
689,693
11,965,467

11,275,774
689,693
11,965,467

10
12
13

1,043,529
0
96,213,089
97,256,618

1,043,529
0
96,213,089
97,256,618

Note
Financial Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
‐ Cash and cash equivalents
‐ Trade and other receivables
Total Financial Assets

Carrying
Amount
$

Carrying
$

2020

Fair Value
$

5
6

10,829,244
855,196
11,684,440

10,829,244
855,196
11,684,440

10
12
13

1,027,158
1,000
96,794,771
97,822,929

1,027,158
1,000
96,794,771
97,822,929
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group measures investment property at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition.
The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets
or liabilities at fair value on a non‐recurring basis.
a. Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information according to the
relevant level in the fair value hierarchy. This hierarchy categorises fair value measurements into one of
three possible levels based on the lowest level that a significant input can be categorised into. The levels
are outlined below:
Level 1
Measurements based on
quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2
Level 3
Measurements based on inputs Measurements based
other than quoted prices
on unobservable inputs
included in Level 1 that are
for the asset or liability.
observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or
indirectly.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset
or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market
data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.
Valuation Techniques
The Group selects valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily
depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques
selected by the Association are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches:
‐ Market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions
involving identical or similar assets or liabilities.
‐ Income approach converts estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single
current (ie discounted) value.
‐ Cost approach reflects the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service capacity.
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use
when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation
technique, the Group gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly
available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would
generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which
market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about
such assumptions are considered unobservable.
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21. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
a. Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)
Valuation Techniques (Continued)
The following tables provide the fair values of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition, categorised within the fair value hierarchy:

Recurring fair value
measurements
Investment property
Resident lease bonds
Total

Recurring fair value
Investment property
Resident lease bonds
Total

30 June 2021
Level 2
Level 3
$
$

Level 1
$
0
0
0

135,925,000
96,213,089
232,138,089

Total
$
0
0
0

30 June 2020
Level 2
Level 3
$
$

Level 1
$
0
0
0

136,525,000
96,794,771
233,319,771

135,925,000
96,213,089
232,138,089

Total
$
0
0
0

136,525,000
96,794,771
233,319,771

b. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Measure Level 2 and Level 3 Fair Values
The following table provides the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the disclosed fair value
measurements are categorised in their entirety and a description of the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used:
Description

Fair Value at 30 June
2021

Investment property

135,925,000

Resident lease bonds

96,213,089

Valuation Technique

Inputs Used

Market approach using recent
observable market data for
similar properties

Both an internal and
external market‐based
inputs i.e. previous
sales within the village
referenced alongside
general market
conditions within a 10
km radius

There has been no change in the valuation technique used to calculate the fair values disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.
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22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Name of Subsidiary

Ocean Gardens
Retirement Village
Operations

Principal Place of Business

Ownership Interest Held by the
Association
2021
2020
%
%

Perth, WA

100

100

23. ASSOCIATION DETAILS
The registered office and principal place of business of the Association is :
60 Kalinda Dr
City Beach, WA 6015
Tel : + 61 8 9285 3020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF OCEAN GARDENS INC.
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial report of Ocean Gardens Inc. (“the
Association”) and it’s controlled entity (“the Group”), which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, and the declaration by the Board of Management.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA)
and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012,
including:
i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021
and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and

ii)

comply with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis for Opinion
We have conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA), the Australian Charities
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our ethical
requirements in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
Board of Management’s Responsibilities for the Financial Report
The Board of the Association is responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the Australian Accounting
Standards and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA), the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the needs of the
members.

46

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board’s responsibility also includes such internal control as the Board determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair
view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the Association’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the management and
the Board either intend to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as
a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue
and auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australia Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
 Identify and assess risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
 Obtain and understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the management Board with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, Ocean Gardens Inc. has complied with sections 60-30(3)(b), (c) and
(d) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and sections
82(1)(b), (c) and (d) of the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA) :
 by providing us with all information, explanation and assistance necessary for the
conduct of the audit;
 by keeping financial records sufficient to enable a financial report to be prepared
and audited;
 by keeping other records required by Part 3-2 of the Australian Charities and Notfor-profits Commission Act 2012, including those records required by Section 55-5
that correctly record its operations, so as to enable any recognised assessment
activity to be carried out in relation to the entity; and
 by keeping other records required by Part 5 of the Associations Incorporation Act
2015 (WA), including those records required by Section 66 that correctly record its
operations, so as to enable true and fair financial statements to be prepared.
BUTLER SETTINERI (AUDIT) PTY LTD

MARCIA JOHNSON CA
Director
Perth
Date: 22 September 2021
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
In accordance with the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA), in relation
to our audit of Ocean Gardens Inc. for the year ended 30 June 2021, to the best of
my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of section 60-40 of
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to
the audit; and
b) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of section 80 the
Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA) in relation to the audit; and
c) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to
the audit.
This declaration is in respect of Ocean Gardens Inc. and the entity it controlled during
the year.
BUTLER SETTINERI (AUDIT) PTY LTD

MARCIA JOHNSON CA
Director
Perth
Date: 22 September 2021
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The Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) provides listed companies with Corporate Governance
Guidelines that they are encouraged to abide by. While Ocean Gardens Inc. (OGI) is not a listed
entity, it has chosen to adopt the principles in order to ensure that the highest level of Corporate
Governance is applied to the Group.
The Statement discloses the extent to which OGI has followed the ASX Corporate Governance
Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with March 2014
Amendments (3rd edition), (the ASX Principles) during the reporting period. The ASX Principles
are guidelines for businesses which set out eight core principles the Corporate Governance
Council believes lay behind good corporate governance. OGI is committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance and will continue to review and update its governance
practices and policies from time to time.
The Principles have been adopted by OGI, where appropriate, to ensure stakeholder interests are
protected, however, some of the Principles are neither relevant nor practically applicable to a Not
for Profit entity. This Statement outlines OGI’s main governance policies and practices, and the
extent of its compliance with the ASX Principles for the reporting period 1 July 2020 to 30 June
2021.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
It is the board’s responsibility to ensure that the foundations for management and oversight of
the organisation are established and documented appropriately.

Role of the Board & Senior Executives
The board identifies the role of the board, its committees and the powers reserved to the board
in a charter. The Board Charter reserves the following powers for the board:
-

oversight of the strategic direction of OGI;
ensure that an adequate set of Key Performance Indicator measures (KPI’s) exist to
monitor risk and achievement of strategy;

A copy of the Board Charter is available at the offices of OGI, located at 60 Kalinda Drive City
Beach, and on the website www.oceangardens.com.au
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In addition, the board is responsible for:
-

overseeing and approving the risk, control and accountability systems;
approval of financial statements and any significant changes to accounting policies;
approval and monitoring of major investments and strategic commitments;
consideration of recommendations from the Audit and Risk Committee the committee
being responsible for the appointment of external auditors and ensuring that effective
auditing of the group is carried out;
ensuring succession plans are in place for all senior executives and that remuneration for
senior executives is set by Non-Executive Directors
monitoring compliance with legal, constitutional and ethical standards;
ensuring appropriate standards of corporate governance and ethics are established,
monitored and reviewed, and reviewing annually the Terms of References of all
committees.
any matter which, according to law, is expressly reserved for board determination.

On appointment, each independent director of the board receives a letter of appointment which
details the key terms and expectations of their appointment.
The guidelines recommend, that before a new director is appointed, appropriate checks are
made as to the person’s character, experience, education, criminal record and bankruptcy history.

Process for evaluating the performance of senior executives
The Management team responsible for the operation of OGI are employees of the organisation
and are subject to the organisation’s performance evaluation process. The board reviews the
processes for performance evaluation across OGI, and the General Manager’s review of the
performance of individual members of the Executive Team. All board members participate in
the Performance Review of the General Manager, the results of which are communicated to the
General Manager by the Chair of the board.
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Princple 2: Structure the board to add value
Majority of Independent Directors
Throughout the reporting period the board had a majority of Independent Directors.
The independent status of those Directors was determined using the criteria set out in
Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Principles. The table below sets out the details of each of the
Directors including their independent status and length of tenure.

Name
Darren Cooper

Position held
Non-Executive Independent Chair
Appointed Chair 19 November 2020

Independent
(Yes/No)

Date appointed
to the Board

Yes

23 April 2020

Lee Verios

Non-Executive Independent Director

Yes

1 April 2014

Ray Glickman

Non-Executive Independent Director

Yes

27 April 2016

Felicite Black

Non-Executive Independent Director

Yes

20 October 2016

Kylie Gilbey

Non-Executive Independent Director

Yes

24 August 2017

Geoff Parnell

Non-Executive Independent Director

Yes

1 December 2020

Anthony Kinder

Non-Executive Independent Chair
Resigned 19 November 2020   

Yes

24 October 2012

The board considers that collectively, the Directors have an appropriate mix of skills, experience
and expertise which allow it to meet OGI’s objectives. The composition of the board is subject to
continuous review taking into consideration the changing needs of OGI.

Chair of the board and Independence
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that the Chair of the board be independent.
Darren Cooper, the Chair of the board, is an independent, non-executive Director.

Roles of the Chair and General Manager
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that the roles of the roles of Chair and
General Manager be split and not exercised by the same individual.
Darren Cooper, the Chair, is a non-executive, independent director.
Philip Simich is the General Manager
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Nomination Committee
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that boards establish a nomination
committee to oversee the selection and appointment of directors.
OGI does not have a formal nomination committee. A sub Group of the board is selected to
participate in each appointment process, and after short-listing of possible candidates, all
members of the board meet and interview prospective candidates.
Each nominee is interviewed and evaluated in terms of their fit and ability to contribute to the
board’s effectiveness against established criteria.
A recommendation is then made to the Town of Cambridge for final approval outlining the
suitability of the proposed appointee against the criteria.
For existing Directors, seeking renomination the Director provides a commitment that they have
the capacity to meet the time commitments required. The board meets in-camera and decides
whether to support the nomination, and if so applies the selection criteria as if they were a first
time nominee.

Skills Matrix/Mix
The guidelines recommend the use and disclosure of a board skills matrix setting out the mix of
skills and diversity that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership. OGI
meets this requirement
The board considers that it has a broad diversity and mix of skills and experiences that allows it
to discharge its obligations.
The board possesses competencies, knowledge as well as specialist skills in the areas of:
•

Strategy and Business Leadership including relevant CEO experience;

•

Retirement Village and Care Facility Management and Oversight

•

Community Care;

•

Residential Construction and Development;

•

Healthcare and Hospitality;

•

State and Local Government and Governance;

•

Finance and Accounting

•

Legal
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Diversity Policy
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that Companies establish a policy
concerning diversity. OGI is not part of an ASX listed group of companies and is not required to
have a policy concerning diversity. OGI has a number of policies that support diversity, but at this
stage it does not have a policy that proactively promotes diversity.
OGI is of insufficient size to participate in the Workplace Gender Equality Survey, however if it did
its results would be;

Categories
Directors

Female

Male

2

4

General Manager

1

Key Management

1

2

Other Team Leaders

3

2

Total

6

9

Female

Male

Non-Manager
Categories
Care Staff

14

Gardeners

3

Clerical & Administrative

5

Wellness

1

Maintenance
Housekeeping
Total

2
7
27

5

The board takes the view that diversity in support of board effectiveness goes beyond Gender
Diversity and looks at Board Diversity in all its forms.
The board historically has had 1-2 female Directors and OG meets the AICD Gender
Diversity guideline of at least 30% Female Directors as at June 2021.
Excluding the board, the number of females in management roles represents 50% of management
/ team leader positions.
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Evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees and
individual Directors
The board is responsible for reviewing and monitoring its performance and the performance of
its committees and directors. The board undertakes an annual self-evaluation of its performance.
The evaluation is conducted by way of a survey of each Director, followed by an analysis and
discussion of the results. As part of the review, consideration is given to the existing skills and
competency of the Directors to ensure there is an appropriate mix of skills for managing OGI, as
well as the future professional development requirements of directors.
The board has undertaken a survey of Board Effectiveness and uses this to review Board
Effectiveness.

Induction and education
An induction programme for Directors is facilitated by the Chair of the board. The programme
provides new directors with an understanding of the financial, strategic, operational and risk
management position of OGI. An induction programme is also provided to new Directors on first
joining the Audit and Risk Committee.
Under the Board Charter, Directors have a personal obligation to acquire and maintain ongoing
development to perform their role as an OGI Director. Under its Policies, OGI will support the
continued education of Directors, requiring, but paying for 5 days of Training and Development
pertinent to their employment as a Director of OGI.

Access to information
All Directors have unrestricted access to records of OGI and receive regular financial and
operational reports from senior management to enable them to carry out their duties.
The Board Charter grants the board collectively, and each Director individually, the right to seek
independent professional advice at OGI’s expense to help them carry out their responsibilities.

The Board and the Company Secretary
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is accountable to
the board on all governance matters and supports the board by monitoring and maintaining
board policies and procedures, and coordinating the timely completion and dispatch of the
board agenda and briefing material.
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the General Manager in
consultation with the board.
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Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making
OGI has a Code of Conduct (the Code) which sets out the requirements for workplace and
human resource practices, risk management and legal compliance.

Code Conduct
The board acknowledges that all employees and Directors of OGI are subject to the Code and
are required to act honestly and with integrity. The Code is designed to ensure that all directors,
officers and employees conduct activities with the highest standards of honesty and integrity
and in compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
The approach adopted by the board is consistent with the Principle. The board requires the
General Manager and the Finance Manager to provide a written statement that the financial
statements of OGI present a true and fair view, in all material aspects, of the financial position
and operational results.

Audit Risk and Compliance Committee
The Audit Risk and Committee is primarily responsible for;
-

overseeing financial reporting and the audited accounts as to whether they are complete,
consistent with information known to committee members, and reflect appropriate
accounting principles, and then providing a recommendation to the board with regard to
their adoption.

-

evaluating and monitoring the effectiveness of the external audit function.

-

evaluating the effectiveness of Internal controls and approving and monitoring the risk
management approach;

-

Responsible for the oversight of Cyber-Security;

-

Providing input to the annual internal audit plan, approving the plan, considering the
major findings of the internal audit reports and reviewing managements’ response in
terms of content and timeliness. Monitor managements’ implementation of internal
audit recommendations;

-

Reviewing the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and
regulations, industry codes and company policies and the results of management’s
investigation and follow-up (including disciplinary action) of any instances of noncompliance, and review the findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies.
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The members of the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee throughout the reporting period
were:

Position

Number of
Meetings in Year

Attendance

Chair

4

4

Darren Cooper

Member

3

3

Felicite Black

Member

4

4

Geoff Parnell

Member

2

2

Anthony Kinder
(Resigned)

Member

1

1

Name
Kylie Gilbey

The experiences of the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee members as at 30 June 2020
are:
Kylie Gilbey (B.Ec., F.FINSIA, GAICD, MBA)
Chair of the OGI Audit Risk and Compliance Committee since 21 December 2019.
Darren Cooper (B.Bus, M.Fin, GAICD)
Member of the OGI Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (Appointed Chair of the board on 19
November 2020).
Felicite Black (RN, B Arts, GCCM, MBA, MAICD)
Geoff Parnell (B.Bus, FAIM, GAICD)
Member of the OGI Audit Risk and Compliance Committee.
With four members, the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee satisfies all the requirements
of ASX Recommendation 4.2 which suggests that an audit committee should have ‘at least
three members. The structure of the Audit and Risk Committee satisfied the three other
requirements of Recommendation 4.2.
The Audit Risk and Compliance Committee conducts an annual review of its effectiveness and
determines areas for improvement as well as providing an annual acquittal statement to the
board that it has satisfied its charter for the year.
The board considers that during the reporting period the Audit Risk and Compliance
Committee was of sufficient size, independence and technical expertise to discharge its
mandate effectively.
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Charter of the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee
The Audit Risk and Compliance Committee has adopted a formal Charter which sets out their
responsibilities with respect to financial reporting, external audit, and risk management and
compliance and performance evaluation.
A copy of the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee’s Charter is available at 60 Kalinda Drive
City Beach.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
As OGI is not a listed entity this principle does not apply.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of the Companies Shareholders
As OGI is not a Public Company this principle does not apply.
It does have members of its Association and the annual accounts are presented for approval
annually.
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) provides the opportunity for all Association members to
receive reports and presentations on the performance of OGI and to ask as many questions as
they wish, directed to the General Manager, Chair and fellow Directors.
OGI meets the Guidelines that encourage information to be provided electronically and via the
Company website, so that a wider audience of stakeholders can gain an understanding of the
performance of OGI.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Risk management and compliance framework
An important role of OGI is to effectively manage the risks inherent in its business while
supporting the performance and success of the organisation. OGI is committed to ensuring that
it has a robust system of risk oversight and management and internal controls in compliance
with ASX Principle 7.
The board has delegated responsibility for the oversight of OGI’s compliance program to the
Audit Risk and Compliance Committee and has not established a separate committee to oversee
risk. The board has adopted an overall Risk Management Framework and Policy, and a detailed
Risk Register outlining OGI’s major risks, has been developed. The Risk Register is reviewed and
updated quarterly by the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee.
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Risk management and internal control system
The board is ultimately responsible for overseeing and managing risks to OGI. Management
reports to the board on risk management and compliance via the Audit Risk and Compliance
Committee. The risk management framework is utilised annually by Management and the Audit
Risk and Compliance Committee to assist in the determination of key risks to be managed.
Mitigation or treatment programmes are developed, agreed to by the Audit Risk and Compliance
committee and reports on progress are made. The Audit Risk and Compliance Committee
develops a programme of independent audits annually, based on the risk register and what it
considers to be priority areas. OGI is not of a size to have its own internal audit function.
Financial risks are managed by the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee. The Company
Secretary is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the efficiency of compliance systems on an
ongoing basis.
In addition, OGI is periodically audited by Government Agencies such as WorkCover (WA) and the
Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission.
A copy of OGI’s risk management framework is available at City Beach.

General Manager and Finance Manager Assurance
The Board has received assurance from the General Manager and Finance Manager that the
sign off of the financial statements is based upon a sound system of risk management and that
the internal compliance and control systems are operating efficiently in all material respects in
relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The ASX Corporate Governance Council suggests that Companies should establish a dedicated
Remuneration Committee. OGI is not of sufficient size to warrant a remuneration committee;
however the board oversees the remuneration process for the General Manager and Executive.
Non-executive Directors receive fees for serving as Directors. Consistent with AICD best practice,
Director’s fees are not linked to the performance of OGI. Director’s fees are approved by the
members of the Association at the Annual General Meeting.
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